IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-00269-COA



ANTHONY ROBINSON

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

APPELLANT

V.

JUL 2 5 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

RY.

Anthony Robinson, Pro se

MDOC #R9843

MCCF

503 S. Main Street

Columbia, MS 39429

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CP-00269-COA

ANTHONY ROBINSON

APPELLANT

V

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Appellant, Anthony Robinson has suffered a violation of his 5th and 14th Amendment rights under the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Mississippi where trial court advised petitioner any sentence he received, upon conviction for armed robbery, would be without parole. Such information was not correct where petitioner was not charged as a habitual offender and where law states only that first ten years are mandatory.

2.

Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Robinson of the correct law in regards to appealing a sentence rendered upon a plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Petitioner Robinson was never told that, under applicable law, his sentence could be appealed to the Supreme Court for direct review.

3.

Appellant Robinson was denied due process of law where the indictment which charged petitioner with armed robbery, and which the state prosecuted the charge there under failed to set forth the Circuit Court judicial district of the state of Mississippi where the charge was originated or was alleged to have occurred. Such failure, as a matter of law, denied petitioner due process of

law in violation of the 5th and 14th Amendments of the United States constitution and constitutes plain error.

4.

Appellant Robinson Indictment failed to give him clear notice of the charge which he entered a plea of guilty, when the Indictment failed to include the name of Terrell Hopkins, who aided and abetted armed robbery, which violated Robinson's constitutional rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

5.

Appellant would assert that the trial court failed to consider the PCR motion under the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-11 where trial court's order indicate it considered motion under another individual's case and where trial court failed to conduct an evidentiary hearing or assert that it had examined the claims together with all the files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack.

SUBSTANTIAL FACTS

Petitioner Robinson presents his post conviction motion upon the following facts which are within his personal knowledge.

- 1. Petitioner was indicted on May 21, 1998 for once count of armed robbery pursuant to §97-3-79.
- Petitioner was represented by Honorable Morris Sweat. Attorney of Law of Columbia, Mississippi.
- 3. Petitioner's was never explained to that he will be eligible for earned time after serving 10 years of his sentence. Petitioner was told by his counsel and by the

- court that the sentence which was rendered under the indictment would require that it be served mandatory.
- 4. Petitioner believed that if he entered a plea of guilty to the indictment the sentence imposed would not be a mandatory sentence and would be served with full benefit of earned time credit for good conduct.
- 5. That the trial court never advised that the sentence, or any portions thereof, would be served mandatory before Robinson decided to enter a plea of guilty, however, petitioner only had knowledge that he could be sentenced to life imprisonment is he had been found guilty by a jury.
- 6. That after researching my case due diligently, I was denied due process of law where the trial court failed to advise me that I could appeal my sentence, if I felt my sentence is illegal in according to law.
- 7. That after researching my case due diligently, I found out that my conviction and sentence is illegal due to the fact that the indictment and/or the court failed to give me notice of the Judicial District by which my crime was committed, which is a violation of my rights under the Mississippi and U. S. Constitution.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v State</u>, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

In the instant case, well-settled law dictates that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous since the trial court failed to address the substantial and meritorious claims made in the petition.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant Robinson convictions by pleas of guilty were invalid since such pleas were made without the trial court having recognized that the suspended sentence imposed upon Robinson, as a matter of statute, was an illegal sentence. Moreover, according to Robinson in-court admissions, he is not guilty of armed robbery and the Court v should not have sentenced Robinson's to prison for armed robbery when the admissions made constitute a far lesser crime.

ARGUMENT

CLAIM 1.

Anthony Robinson was charged in a Criminal Indictment, with the offense of armed robbery. After being given notice of the indictment, Robinson went up before the Court on August 17, 1998, and he waived the arraignment and the 270 days speedy trial limitation, and Robinson trial was set to convene the next day on August 18, 1998. Roberson petitioned the court to enter a plea of guilty on August 25, 1999, and the said petition was filed with the Clerk on September 3, 1999. On or about September 15, 1999, the court accepted the plea and sentenced Petitioner to a term of 25 years imprisonment with 10 years suspended and 15 years to serve. The Circuit Court Judge did advised Robinson that his sentence would be without parole and the entire amount of time has to be served without parole. The Court also advised that "and you understand we don't do plea bargaining in this district." R-9 The court made it clear that Robinson will not be granted any earned time credit under the applicable earned time statutes Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-138.

Robinson's conviction was entered upon the plea of guilty to the Indictment count of Armed Robbery. Robinson would assert that such plea to information has no authority to deprive

Robinson of earned time accumulation which would permit Robinson to be released from the service of the first 10 years early. Robinson would assert that:

- a) The information failed to appraise Robinson that he was subject to a sentence which required that the first 10 years be served mandatory and he was, therefore, not appraised of the consequences of any such plea to the information, and
- b) Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-3 provides the following:

A person indicted for a criminal offense shall not be convicted thereof, unless by confession of his guilt in open court or by admitting the truth of the jury accepted and recorded in court. A person charged with an offense shall not be punished, therefore, unless legally convicted thereof in a court having jurisdiction of the cause and of the person.

This section clearly requires an indictment before any conviction may be legal. Article 3, Section 27, of the Constitution of the State of Mississippi was amended in November, 1978, to authorize proceedings against a defendant charged with a felony by information. . . . where a defendant is represented by counsel and by sworn statement waives indictment. <u>Jefferson v. State.</u> 556 So. 2d 1016 (Miss 1989). The failure of the indictment and the court to explain that he would be eligible for earned time calculations after serving ten (10) years should cause the sentence rendered to be without the effect of Miss. Code Ann. §47-5-139 (1) (e). Additionally, the conviction and sentence conflicts with Miss. Code Ann §97-3-79 which should prevent petitioner's excess punishment unless the conviction was by an indictment and/or legal information.

Robinson seeks an order from this court directing the respondents to allow him 15% earned time allowance on his sentence, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 47-5-138(5). He contends that he is entitled to a 15% earned time allowance for this entire twenty-year sentence. In the alternative, Robinson contends that he should be granted a 15% earned time allowance on any

amount of his sentence exceeding ten years. Robinson also requests that an order be issued directing that his sentence be re-computed to reflect a new tentative release date.

ANALYSIS

(A.). Contention that 15% Earned Time be Applied to Entire Sentence

Robinson would not contend here that he should be granted 15% carried time for everyday of his twenty-year sentence for Robbery, Use of Deadly Weapon. In Williams v. Puckett 624 So "2d 446 (Miss. 1993) the Mississippi Supreme Court held that an inmate is required to serve 10 years of a robbery or attempted robbery sentence, through display of a deadly weapon, before being eligible to accumulate earned time. Robinson cites Williams to this court, but contends that the July 1, 1995 amendments to Miss. Code Ann. 47-5-138(5) and Miss. Code Ann. 47-7-3 has nullified its effect. However, after the July 1, 1991 amendments, the Mississippi Supreme Court relied on and corroborated during the Williams ruling in Wilson v. Puckett, 721 So. 2d 1110 (Miss. 1998). The Court cited the Williams ruling in determining that an earned time allowance will not be accumulated during service of any mandatory time without parole eligibility. Id. At 1112.

Robinson was sentenced to 20 years for the Robbery, Use of a Deadly Weapon.

§47-1-3(d)(i) of the *Mississippi Code Annotated* dictates that those convicted of robbery or attempted robbery, through display of a deadly weapon, cannot be eligible for parole until they shall have served ten years of a sentence of more than ten years. Williams v. Puckett and its re-application in Wilson v. Puckett dictate that the portions of sentences that carry with than no possibility of parole, provide no opportunity for the accumulation of earned time. Therefore, Robinson is not entitled to earned time for the first ten years of his twenty-year sentence.

Robinson should be granted 15 % earned time for the non-mandatory portion of his, sentence.

The Mississippi Code states, "for any sentence imposed after June 30, 1995, an inmate may receive an earned time allowance of four and one-half (4 1/2) days for each thirty (30) days served if the department determines that the inmate has complied with the good conduct and performance requirements of the earned time allowance program." Miss Code Ann. 47-5-138

Section 47-5-139 of the Mississippi Code Annotated addresses the possible ineligibility of an inmate, like Robinson, who has been convicted of robbery with a deadly weapon, of receiving earned time allowances. The statute states that "an inmate shall not be eligible for the earned time allowance if: the inmate has not served the mandatory time required by parole eligibility for a conviction of robbery or attempted robbery with a deadly weapon." Miss Code Ann. 47-7-3 139

(1)(e). The mandatory time required lot parole eligibility for Robinson's crime is 10 years. Mss.

Code Ann. 47-7-3 (d)(i). Barring the mandatory parole eligibility requirements of armed robbery sentencing discussed supra, Robinson is not amenable to any other prohibitions of earned time accumulation listed in Section 47-5-139 of the Mississippi Code Annotated. lie may begin accumulating earned time after the mandatory ten year sentence has been served.

This court should carefully examined Anthony Robinson Petition for post conviction relief based upon this illegal sentence, should finds that Robinson is not entitled to have his earned time accumulated throughout his sentence but should find that Robinson is entitled to accumulate 15% earned time on any amount of his sentence exceeding 10 years.

CLAIM 2.

After the Guilty Plea Colloquy Proceeding of September 11, 1999, and filed with the Clerk of Court on September 15, 1999, the Court continued by executing the Sentence of Robinson. The

Court sentenced Robbery to serve a term of twenty-five year in the custody of the Mississippi State

Department of Corrections, to pay a restitution of \$500.00, and suspended ten years, requiring

Robinson to serve fifteen years of that sentence without the eligibility of parole. TR 23

The Court concluded his sentencing as following:

"Now, if you do everything your're suppose to do, then I'm going to authorize the Mississippi Department of Corrections to suspend the remaining ten years and place you on postrelease supervision for ten years, which is going to be under very strict terms and conditions that during that ten-year period if you violate any term or condition, they revoke you and you're going to end up serving the whole twent-five years." TR 23-24 The Court failed to add that Robinson had the right to appeal his sentence to the Appeal Court if he was not satisfied with the court sentencing.

CLAIM 3.

Robinson is alleging under Claim 3 that he was denied due process of law where the indictment which charged him with armed robbery, and which the State prosecuted him for, failed to state the judicial district wherein the crime had been committed, and the judicial district was not ascertained by law any part of the record, in order to clearly inform Robinson of the nature and caused of the his accusation. By the failure to do so, violated constitutional rights under the Sixth Amendment, denied him due process of law and equal protection of the law as guaranteed him under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and under the Mississippi Constitution.

Even the Rule 7.06 of the Uniform Circuit Court Rules of the State of Mississippi is given to make sure that the accused rights will not be violated during the grand jury indictment, which state as following;

RULE 7.06 INDICTMENTS

"The indictment upon which the defendant is to be tried shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation. Formal and technical words are not necessary in an indictment, if the offense can be substantially described without them. An indictment shall also include the following: 1. The name of the accused; 2. The date on which the indictment was filed in court; 3. A statement that the prosecution is brought in the name and by the authority of the State of Mississippi; 4. The county and judicial district in which the indictment is brought; 5. The date and, if applicable, the time at which the offense was alleged to have been committed. Failure to state the correct date shall not render the indictment insufficient; 6. The signature of the foreman of the grand jury issuing it; and 7. The words "against the peace and dignity of the state." The court on motion of the defendant may strike from the indictment any surplusage, including unnecessary allegations or aliases. (Amended effective August 26, 1999.) [Emphasis added] Further, the Sixth Amendment states the following:

Amendment VL Rights of the accused.

In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and caused of the accusation, to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his defense. [Emphis added]

Robinson requests the court to review this error as plain error and in the final analysis find that Roinson's indictment is illegal, and remand the case with instructions to release Robinson from his illegal imprisonment.

CLAIM 4.

Petitioner Robinson is alleging that his Indictment failed to give clear notice of the charge which entered a plea of guilty, that when the indictment failed to include the name of Terrell Hopkins, a defendant who aided and abetted the armed robbery, violated Robsinon's constitutional rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment.

§ 99-11-3. Local jurisdiction; venue; venue regarding indictments returned by state grand jury.

(1) The local jurisdiction of all offenses, unless otherwise provided by law, shall be in the county where committed. But, if on the trial the evidence makes it doubtful in which of several counties, including that in which the indictment or affidavit alleges the offense was committed, such doubt shall not avail to procure the acquittal of the defendant. (2) The provisions of subsection (1) of this section shall not apply to indictments returned by a state grand jury. The venue of trials for indictments returned by a state grand jury shall be as provided by the State Grand Jury Act. This subsection shall stand repealed from and after July 1, 2011.

Robinson contends that First the Court failed show or state the Judicial District the Crime of Armed Robbery was committed in. Next, the record shows one Terrell Hopkins aided and abetted Robinson in the Armed Robbery, however, Robinson was the one that possessed the firearm and he admitted that he did discharge the firearm in order to put the victim in fear.

The Guilty Plea Colloquy Proceeding and/or the Sentencing Transcript indicates the following;

- Q. In other words, was you using the gun to tell them to get the money?
- A. Yes Sir.
- Q. And you were pointing the gun at them?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. All right. Well, did they, in fact, get the money?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And did they give it to you?
- A. No. They gave it to Terrell Hopkins.
- Q. Who is that?
- Fellow that was with me.

- Q. All right. So there was another person with you?
- A. Yes sir.
- Q. Did he have a gun, too?

 No, sir.
- Q. And so you were pointing the gun at them and told them give y'all some money and they got \$400, what, was it in the cash register?
- A. No, sir. He got the money.
- Q. Oh, he got the money out of the cash register?
- A. Yes, sir. See TR at p. 15-16

The Judge appeared surprised at learning that there was another defendant that aided and abetted the armed robbery and that defendant was not charged in the in the indictment. He tried to cover up by asking Robinson, was he the one that had the firearm. Even though that Hopkin did not have a firearm, he is the one that got the money out of the cash register, while Robinson held he gun on the victim.

The Prosecutors did not reveal this information in the indictment nor was it revealed to the court before Robinson entered a plea of guilty. Robinson clearly entered a plea to information that was not included in the indictment, making robinson plea as well as the sentence illegal. Robinson's. The Court must review this error as clear error of the court and consider the indictment, conviction and Sentence of Robinson illegal. The case conviction and sentence must be vacated and ordering that Robinson be released from illegal custody.

CLAIM 5.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHERE IT NEVER CONSIDERED MOTION

The trial court's order clearly reflects that it considered the Jamie Christie's motion. (R. 63) The law is clear that the trial court is required to review the original motion together with all files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack. The statute requires this as being mandatory. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-11(1). Here the trial court clearly did not follow such requirement since the order itself states that the court heard and considered Jamie Christie's motion sua sponte. The court never stated it considered Appellant's motion.

Moreover, the court applied the time bar in this case to claims which clearly falls outside the time bar. Appellant's claims go to the question of the imposition of the sentence and the terms of it's application. This could not have been found until the time required under the law was served and credits not applied as required by law. This would fall under the guise of newly discovered evidence.

The Circuit Court applied a summary dismissal to the PCR Mition. <u>Jefferson v. State</u>,

So.2d ____ (Miss. App. 2007). The dismissal applied by the court was clearly outside the procedure outline and set forth in <u>Young v. State</u>, 731 So.2d 1120, 1122 (Miss. 1999).

CONCLUSION

Appellant Robinson respectfully submits that based on the authorities cited herein and in support of hid brief, that this Court should vacate the guilty plea convictions and sentences imposed as well as the action taken by the trial court in regards to the post conviction relief motion. The trial court erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing and in failing to grant relief in this case. This case should be remanded to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing.