## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ANTHONY JAVON ROBINSON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

**FILED** 

NO. 2007-CP-0296

AUG 2 3 2007

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI** 

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DESHUN T, MARTIN
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial of Post - Conviction Collateral Relief Act of the Circuit Court of Marion County, Mississippi, in which the Appellant, Anthony J. Robinson, pled guilty and was sentenced for the felony crime of **ARMED ROBBERY**, Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-3-79 (1972).

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On or about 27<sup>th</sup> day of December, 1997, with a deadly weapon, a firearm, the Appellant, Anthony J. Robinson (Robinson) did wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously rob, take, steal, and carry away from the presence of Jimmy Berry and Melanee Berry of real property in the amount of four hundred dollars (\$400.00). The armed robbery concurred at B & W Cash & Carry, 67 Highway 35 South, Sandy Hook, Mississippi, 39478.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### I., II., III., IV., and V are combined.

#### NO DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS OCCURRED.

Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules 8.04 (A)(3) states that:

Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception, or improper inducements. A showing that a plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the records.

#### THE ARGUMENT

## PROPOSITIONS I., II., III., IV., and V are combined.

#### NO DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS OCCURRED.

Firstly, Appellant alleges that his sentence for gun **ARMED ROBBERY** is a violation of due process of law, because he should be eligible for parole. (Appellant Brief 3). This is not the case.

The law in Mississippi is that there is no parole for gun ARMED ROBBERY.

Mississippi Code Annotated § 47-7-3 (1)(d)(ii) holds:

(ii) No person shall be eligible for parole who shall, on or after October 1, 1994, be convicted of robbery, attempted robbery or carjacking as provided in Section 97-3-115 et seq., through the display of a firearm or drive-by shooting as provided in Section 97-3-109. The provisions of this subparagraph (d)(ii) shall also apply to any person who shall commit robbery, attempted robbery, carjacking or a drive-by shooting on or after October 1, 1994, through the display of a deadly weapon;

This sub - issue brought by the Appellant is therefore lacking in merit.

Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules 8.04 (A)(3) states that:

Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception, or improper inducements. A

showing that a plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the records.

North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 40 (U.S. N.C. 1970) holds:

"Ordinarily, judgment of conviction resting on plea of guilty is justified by defendant's admission that he committed crime charged against him and his consent that judgment be entered without trial of any kind. Guilty plea which represented voluntary and intelligent choice among alternatives available to defendant, especially where he was represented by competent counsel, was not compelled within meaning of Fifth Amendment merely because plea was entered to avoid possibility of death penalty. Standard of validity of guilty plea is whether plea represents voluntary and intelligent choice among alternative courses of action open to defendant."

The State contends that Robinson did not have to admit to this crime because this was an "Alford Plea." Every element of an "Alford Plea" has been met and is satisfied. Alford held that one does not have to say he is guilty to be and plead guilty.

Appellant intelligently, knowingly, and voluntarily signed the Petition to Enter Guilty Plea. (R. E. 5-10 and 16-41).

Appellant alleges that he was not advised of the correct law. (Appellant Brief 3). In short, there is no record evidence that the Appellant could not or did not understand, or lacked knowledge of the legal proceedings in this case. The lower court questioned him extensively regarding his knowledge of both the crimes charged and the consequences of pleading guilty to those crimes. In short, the record plainly belies Owens instant claim that his plea was anything but voluntarily and intelligently (knowingly) made.

This sub - issue brought by the Appellant is therefore lacking in merit.

Appellant alleges that he was denied due process of law, because the indictment which charged petitioner with armed robbery failed to set forth where the crime occurred. (Appellant Brief 3). The aforementioned is not true. The indictment has on it Marion County, and the gun **ARMED ROBBERY** took place in Sandy Hook, Marion County, Mississippi.

Furthermore, Appellant continues to allege that the indictment was insufficient. (Appellant Brief 3 - 4).

Reid v. State, 910 So.2d 615, 624 (Miss. App. 2005) holds that an indictment which is substantially in the language of the statute is sufficient; so long as from a fair reading of the indictment, taken as a whole, the nature and cause of the charge against the accused are clear, the indictment is legally sufficient. Fuqua v. State, 938 So.2d 277, 2006 WL 540549 (Miss. App. 2006) holds that for an indictment to be sufficient, it must contain the essential elements of the crime charged.

"The indictment followed the wording of the statute and generally that is all that is necessary to advise an accused of the charge against him." Anthony v. State, 349 So.2d 1066, 1067 (Miss. 1977). An indictment that is "substantially" in the language of the statute is sufficient. State v. Labella, 232 So.2d 354 (Miss. 1970). See also Jones v. State, 856 So.2d 285 (Miss. 2003), reh denied [If criminal statute "fully and clearly" defines the offense, the statutory language is sufficient to provide notice of the crime charged.]; Stevens v. State, 808 So.2d 908 (Miss. 2002) [As a general rule, where an indictment tracks the language of a criminal statute, it is sufficient to inform the accused of the charge against him.]; Cummins v. State, 515 So.2d 869 (Miss. 1987) [If a statute "fully and clearly" defines a criminal offense, an indictment in the language of the statute is sufficient.]; Cantrell v. State, 507 So.2d 325, 329 (Miss. 1987)

"The major purpose of an indictment is to furnish the accused such a description of the

charges against him as will enable him to adequately prepare his defense." <u>King v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 1182, 1185 (Miss. 1991).

Rule 7.06 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice governs indictments. It reads, in its pertinent parts, as follows:

The indictment upon which the defendant is to be tried shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation. Formal and technical words are not necessary in an indictment, if the offense can be substantially described without them.

The indictment was sufficient.

This sub - issue brought by the Appellant is therefore lacking in merit.

Having reviewed Appellant's motion for post-conviction collateral relief, the case file, and the transcript of the plea hearing, in conjunction with the applicable legal authorities, the circuit court found that it should be summarily denied.

The court's order is not subject to reversal "absent a finding" that it "was clearly erroneous." Taylor v. State, 766 So.2d 830, 832 (Miss. App. 2000), citing Kirksey v. State, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

Appellant fails to specially raise below or allege error(s) committed by the lower court; thus, this issue is barred. Furthermore, he overlooks the fact that this Court is an **appellate** court. In the recent case of <u>Alexander v. State</u>, 759 So.2d 411 (Miss. 2000), at ¶ 35, the Supreme Court quoted from the case of <u>Leverett v. State</u>, 197 So.2d 889, 890 (Miss. 1967), in holding, in pertinent part, as follows:

"The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction, it can only try questions that have been tried and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken."

Accord: Patterson v. State, 594 So.2d 606, 609 (Miss. 1992).

The State assumes *arguendo*, however, that Robinson intended to argue that the lower court committed reversible error in failing to find that his post-conviction motion had merit. Such an argument must surely fail. The burden is not on the State, but on the one who is challenging the guilty plea, *viz.*, Robinson. Pursuant to Section, Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-39-23(7) (1972), as amended, of the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act:

No relief shall be granted under this chapter unless the prisoner proves by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to such.

Accord: Rochell v. State, 748 So.2d 103, 110 (Miss. 1999); Billiot v. State, 655 So.2d 1, 12 (Miss.1995). If the prisoner loses in the lower court, he must show on appeal that the lower court's ruling is clearly erroneous. Rochell v. State, *supra*, 748 So.2d at 109.

Accordingly, it was Robinson's burden in the lower court to show that he was entitled to the relief he requested. He made no such showing. Similarly, it is Robinson's burden on appeal to show that the lower court's ruling on his motion is clearly erroneous. He makes no such showing.

The State contends as was held in <u>Burch v. State</u>, 929 So.2d 394, 2006 WL 1320494 (Miss. App. 2006) that the trial court may summarily dismiss a PCR "[i]f it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief…." Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-11(2) (2000).

In short, there is no record evidence that Robinson could not or did not understand, lacked knowledge, of the legal proceedings in this case. The lower court questioned him extensively regarding his knowledge of both the crimes charged and the consequences of pleading guilty to those crimes. In short, the record plainly belies Robinson's instant claim that his plea was anything but voluntarily and intelligently (knowingly) made.